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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

WESTERN DISTRICT OF TENNESSEE 

WESTERN DIVISION 

 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, and the 

STATE OF TENNESSEE, ex rel. CHRIS 

GODWIN, 

Plaintiffs, 

vs. 

MEMPHIS OPERATOR, LLC (d/b/a SPRING 

GATE REHABILITATION AND 

HEALTHCARE CENTER), VERICARE 

MANAGEMENT, INC. and PHARMERICA 

CORPORATION, 

Defendants. 
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Civil Action No.  

FILED IN CAMERA AND UNDER SEAL 

PURSUANT TO 31 U.S.C. § 3730 

DO NOT ENTER INTO PACER 

DO NOT ENTER IN CM/ECF 

DO NOT PLACE IN PRESS BOX 

DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL 

 

RELATOR’S SEALED FALSE CLAIMS ACT COMPLAINT 

INTRODUCTION 

1. Relator Chris Godwin (“Relator”), on behalf of the United States of America and the 

State of Tennessee, brings this action against Memphis Operator, LLC d/b/a Spring Gate 

Rehabilitation and Healthcare Center (“Spring Gate”), Vericare Management, Inc., and PharMerica 

Corporation (collectively “defendants”) for violations of the federal False Claims Act (“FCA”), 31 

U.S.C. §3729 et seq., and the Tennessee Medicaid False Claims Act (“TMFCA”), Tenn. Code Ann. 

§71-5-182 et seq., to recover all damages, civil penalties, and other recoveries provided for under 

those statutes. 
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2. Defendants have defrauded and continue to defraud Medicare and Medicaid by 

providing non-existent, grossly inadequate, materially substandard, and/or worthless services to 

nursing home patients, while falsely representing compliance with Medicare and Medicaid 

requirements.  Specifically, Spring Gate, with the active participation of Vericare and Pharmerica, 

has administered unreasonable and unnecessary anti-psychotic drugs to residents as a form of 

chemical restraint, in order to keep those residents docile and make them easier to manage. 

3. Relator learned of defendants’ scheme to defraud through visits with his Aunt, Ms. 

Betty Hobbs, a resident of Spring Gate during the first half of 2013, who was being chemically 

restrained with unnecessary psychoactive drugs such as Ativan and Seroquel. 

4. Ms. Hobbs was admitted to Spring Gate after a period of hospitalization to treat her 

mitral valve endocarditis, fungal urinary tract infection, and Clostridium difficile-associated colitis. 

5. At the time she was admitted to Spring Gate on January 15, 2013, Spring Gate’s own 

records described her as a “well-developed, well nourished elderly female in no acute distress.”  She 

was not taking any anti-psychotics at the time. 

6. However, at some point in March of 2013, Spring Gate began prescribing Ms. Hobbs 

heavy doses of the generic forms of the anti-psychotic drug Seroquel and the anti-anxiety drug 

Ativan.  These drugs were prescribed despite the fact that there was never a medically accepted 

indication justifying such heavy-duty medications. 

7. After Spring Gate prescribed these psychoactive drugs, Ms. Hobbs’ condition quickly 

deteriorated.  Spring Gate internal reports described her as confused and unsteady, prone to staring 

off into space.  She fell multiple times during March and April.  Notably, dizziness—which is 

closely related to falls among the elderly—is a side effect of both Seroquel and Ativan. 
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8. Her communication skills also rapidly deteriorated, resulting in Spring Gate providing 

unanticipated speech therapy services to Ms. Hobbs, which were ultimately billed to the United 

States under Medicare Part B. 

9. By May of 2013, Ms. Hobbs’ condition had deteriorated to the point that she had to 

be hospitalized again for several weeks, including a stay of over one week in a specialty hospital 

dealing with senior care and prescription drug management. 

10. By that point, Relator was sufficiently concerned for his Aunt’s safety and well-being 

that he arranged to have her released from the hospital to a different nursing home, which 

dramatically cut back the drugs being prescribed to Ms. Hobbs. 

11. At this new nursing home, Ms. Hobbs’ mental condition quickly and dramatically 

improved. 

12. Ultimately, Ms. Hobbs passed away in December of 2013. 

13. During all periods relevant to this Complaint, defendant Memphis Operator, LLC has 

owned and operated the Spring Gate Rehabilitation and Healthcare Center (“Spring Gate”) in 

Memphis, Tennessee.  During this same period, Spring Gate contracted with defendant Vericare 

Management, Inc. (“Vericare”) to provide mental health services to residents of the nursing home, 

and contracted with defendant PharMerica Corporation (“PharMerica”) to serve as the long-term 

pharmacy for Spring Gate nursing home patients. 

14. Spring Gate, with the active participation of Vericare and PharMerica, has knowingly 

and repeatedly administered anti-psychotic drugs to its residents as a way to chemically restrain 

those residents and make them easier to manage. 

15. Administering anti-psychotic drugs to nursing home residents who present no 

medically accepted indications is explicitly forbidden by federal law.  See 42 U.S.C. §§1395i-
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3(c)(1)(A)(ii) and 1395i-3(c)(1)(D) (Medicare) and 42 U.S.C. §§1396r(c)(1)(A)(ii) and 

1396r(c)(1)(D) (Medicaid). 

16. Any prescription drug that is prescribed in the absence of a “medically accepted 

indication” is not reimbursable under Medicare Part D or Medicaid.  See 42 U.S.C. §1395w-102(e) 

(Medicare), 42 U.S.C §1396r-8(k)(2) and (6) (Medicaid). 

17. Moreover, by relying on psychoactive drugs as a substitute for actual, skilled nursing 

care, and then billing Medicare for that care, Spring Gate has fraudulently billed the United States 

for worthless services. 

18. Relator, through his efforts to ensure proper care for his Aunt, has direct firsthand 

knowledge of Defendants’ scheme to defraud the United States by providing and billing for 

worthless nursing care and medically unreasonable anti-psychotic drugs. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

19. The Court has jurisdiction over the subject matter of this action pursuant to 28 U.S.C. 

§§1331 and 1345.  The Court has subject matter jurisdiction over Relator’s state law claims pursuant 

to 28 U.S.C. §1367(a) and 31 U.S.C. §3732(b). 

20. Venue is proper in this District under 28 U.S.C. §§1391(b) and 1395(a), and 31 

U.S.C. §3732(a), because the acts alleged in this Complaint occurred in the Western District of 

Tennessee. 

21. Venue is proper in this division of the Western District of Tennessee under Local 

Rule 3.3(b)(2) because the claim arose and the complained of events occurred in Shelby County, 

Tennessee. 

22. Relator provided the United States with a full disclosure of substantially all material 

facts, as required by the FCA, 31 U.S.C. §3730(b)(2), prior to filing this Complaint.  Relator also 

provided to the State of Tennessee a full disclosure of substantially all material evidence and 
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information, as required by the TMFCA, Tenn. Code Ann. §71-5-183(b)(2), prior to filing this 

Complaint. 

PARTIES 

23. Relator, Chris Godwin, is the nephew of Ms. Betty Hobbs, who was a resident of 

Spring Gate and who is now deceased.  Relator is a citizen of the United State and a resident of 

Tennessee.  He spoke to Ms. Hobbs shortly after her initial admission to Spring Gate and visited her 

regularly.  Relator noticed the rapid and drastic decline in Ms. Hobbs’ mental condition and her 

ability to function independently beginning in March of 2013.  He voiced his concerns about her 

decline to the nursing staff at Spring Gate and specifically notified them that he was concerned that 

her rapid decline was the result of its use of anti-psychotic and other drugs.  Despite his attempts, 

Spring Gate did nothing to address his concerns and continued to administer heavy doses of anti-

psychotic drugs to Ms. Hobbs. 

24. Plaintiff United States of America, acting through the Department of Health and 

Human Services and its Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services, administers the Health 

Insurance Program for the Aged and Disabled established by Title XVIII of the Social Security Act, 

42 U.S.C. §1395 et seq. (“Medicare”), and Grants to States for Medical Assistance Programs 

pursuant to Title XIX of the Social Security Act, 42 U.S.C. §1396 et seq. (“Medicaid”). 

25. Plaintiff the State of Tennessee, on behalf of the Bureau of TennCare and the director 

of Health Care Finance and Administration of the State of Tennessee, provides services to TennCare 

beneficiaries under contracts (titled Contractor Risk Agreements) with various Managed Care 

Organizations (“MCOs”).  These MCOs are essentially private insurance companies who have 

contracted with the State of Tennessee to coordinate and provide TennCare services.  Tennessee 

contracts with various MCOs who in turn sub-contract with providers (such as nursing homes, 

doctors and pharmacies).  Each MCO, pursuant to federal and state requirements, negotiates the 
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details of services provided and the applicable rates with each provider.  TennCare beneficiaries are 

provided a selection of MCOs based on whether they reside in East, Middle or West Tennessee, and 

choose which MCO they prefer to use. 

26. Memphis Operator, LLC is a Delaware company with its principal place of business 

in Louisville, Kentucky.  At all times relevant to this Complaint, Memphis Operator, LLC has 

owned and operated the Spring Gate Rehabilitation and Healthcare Center located at 3909 Covington 

Pike, Memphis, Tennessee 38135. 

27. Defendant Vericare is a Delaware corporation with its principal address at 4715 

Viewridge Avenue, Suite 230, San Diego, California 92123.  At all times relevant to this Complaint, 

Vericare has contracted with Spring Gate to provide mental health services directly to Spring Gate 

residents, including Ms. Hobbs. 

28. Defendant PharMerica is a Delaware corporation whose principal business is 

providing pharmacy services to residents in long-term care facilities.  PharMerica’s principal place 

of business is at 1901 Campus Place, Louisville, Kentucky 40299.  PharMerica operates 

approximately 95 pharmacies in the United States and conducts extensive business in, among other 

places, Tennessee.  At all times relevant to this Complaint, PharMerica operated a pharmacy that 

conducted business at 1680 Century Center Parkway, Suite 15, Memphis, Tennessee 38134.  

Further, PharMerica filled prescriptions for residents at Spring Gate via its pharmacy number 8185. 

APPLICABLE LAW 

I. THE FEDERAL FALSE CLAIMS ACT 

29. The FCA provides, in part, that any entity that (1) knowingly presents, or causes to be 

presented, a false or fraudulent claim for payment or approval; or (2) knowingly makes, uses, or 

causes to be made or used, a false record or statement material to a false or fraudulent claim, is liable 

to the United States for damages and penalties.  31 U.S.C. §3729(a)(1)(A)-(B).  Additionally, the 

FCA prohibits knowingly making, using, or causing to be made or used, a false record or statement 
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material to an obligation to pay or transmit money to the Government, or knowingly concealing or 

knowingly and improperly avoiding or decreasing an obligation to pay or transmit money or 

property to the Government.  31 U.S.C. §3729(a)(1)(G). 

30. A person acts “knowingly” under the FCA when he or she “(i) has actual knowledge 

of the information; (ii) acts in deliberate ignorance of the truth or falsity of the information; or 

(iii) acts in reckless disregard of the truth or falsity of the information.”  31 U.S.C. §3729(b)(1)(A).  

No proof of specific intent to defraud is required by the FCA.  31 U.S.C. §3729(b)(1)(B). 

31. Under the FCA, an “obligation” is defined as “an established duty, whether or not 

fixed, arising from an express or implied contractual, grantor-grantee, or licensor-licensee 

relationship, from a fee-based or similar relationship, from statute or regulation, or from the retention 

of any overpayment.”  31 U.S.C. §3729(b)(3). 

32. FCA violations may result in civil penalties of between $5,500 and $11,000 per false 

claim, plus three times the amount of damages sustained by the Government as a result of the 

defendants’ illegal conduct.  31 U.S.C. §3729(a). 

II. THE TENNESSEE MEDICAID FALSE CLAIMS ACT 

33. The TMFCA is the Tennessee counterpart to the FCA and applies to claims submitted 

to the TennCare Program.  It provides in part that, any person who: 

(a) presents, or causes to be presented, to the state a claim for payment under the 

medicaid program knowing such claim is false or fraudulent, or 

(b) makes, uses, or causes to be made or used, a record or statement to get a false 

or fraudulent claim under the medicaid program paid for or approved by the state knowing such 

record or statement is false, or 

(c) conspires to defraud the state by getting a claim allowed or paid under the 

medicaid program knowing such claim is false or fraudulent; or 
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(d) makes, uses, or causes to be made or used, a record or statement to conceal, 

avoid, or decrease an obligation to pay or transmit money or property to the state, relative to the 

medicaid program, knowing such record or statement is false; 

is liable to the state for damages and civil penalties.  Tenn. Code Ann. §71-5-182(a)(1). 

34. Under the TMFCA, a person acts “knowingly” with respect to information when 

(1) he has actual knowledge of the information, (2) acts in deliberate ignorance of the truth or falsity 

of the information, or (3) acts in reckless disregard of the truth or falsity of the information.  

However, no proof of a specific intent to defraud is required.  Tenn. Code Ann. §71-5-182(b). 

35. TMFCA violations can result in civil penalties of not less than five thousand dollars 

($5,000) and not more than twenty-five thousand dollars ($25,000) for each false claim, plus three 

(3) times the amount of damages the state sustains because of the act of that person.  Tenn. Code 

Ann. §71-5-182(a)(1). 

III. MEDICARE PAYMENTS FOR NURSING HOME RESIDENTS UNDER 

 PARTS A, B AND D 

36. Medicare is a Federal Government-funded medical assistance program, primarily 

benefiting the elderly, 42 U.S.C. §1395 et seq.  Medicare is administered by the federal Centers for 

Medicare and Medicaid Services (“CMS”), which is a division of the United States Department of 

Health and Human Services (“HHS”). 

 A. Medicare Part A 

37. Part A of the Medicare program provides benefits to participants that cover, among 

other things, skilled nursing services provided in long-term-care (“LTC”) nursing facilities for the 

first 100 days of the beneficiary’s stay in such facilities.  This skilled nursing benefit covers 

necessary prescription drugs that the patient receives during her nursing home stay. 

Case 2:15-cv-02090-STA-tmp *SEALED*   Document 1 *SEALED*    Filed 02/09/15   Page 8 of
 41    PageID 8



- 9 - 

38. During this 100-day period, Medicare Part A makes prospective per diem payments to 

the skilled nursing facility that represent payment in full for all services rendered to the beneficiary.  

42 C.F.R. 413.335(b). 

39. Services that the nursing home is required to provide include, without limitation:  

“nursing services and specialized rehabilitative services to attain or maintain the highest practicable 

physical, mental, and psychosocial well-being of each resident;” “medically-related social services to 

attain or maintain the highest practicable physical, mental, and psychosocial well-being of each 

resident;” and “pharmaceutical services (including procedures that assure the accurate acquiring, 

receiving, dispensing, and administering of all drugs and biologicals) to meet the needs of each 

resident.”  42 U.S.C. §1395i-3(b)(4)(A). 

40. Pursuant to the Nursing Home Reform Act of 1987 (“NHRA”), nursing home 

residents have the “right to be free from . . . any physical or chemical restraints imposed for purposes 

of discipline or convenience and not required to treat the resident’s medical symptoms.”  42 U.S.C. 

§§1395i-3(c)(1)(A)(ii) and 1396r(c)(1)(A)(ii).  The NHRA requires that psychopharma-cologic 

drugs (including anti-psychotics) be administered only upon a physician’s orders and only as part of 

a written plan of care.  Further, the use of these drugs must be reviewed at least annually by an 

independent, external consultant.  42 U.S.C. §§1395i-3(c)(1)(D) and 1396r(c)(1)(D). 

41. The regulations interpreting and applying the NHRA further require that residents be 

free from any physical or chemical restraints used for convenience or discipline and that a nursing 

facility must ensure that [r]esidents “who have not used antipsychotic drugs are not given these 

drugs unless antipsychotic drug therapy is necessary to treat a specific condition as diagnosed and 

documented in the clinical records; and [r]esidents who use antipsychotic drugs receive gradual dose 

reductions, and behavioral interventions, unless clinically contraindicated, in an effort to discontinue 

these drugs.” 42 C.F.R. 483.25(l)(2). 
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42. Medicare, through its system of “fiscal intermediaries,” calculates the per resident per 

diem rate based in principal part on what the nursing facility reports on the Minimum Data Set 

(“MDS”) form for the resident.  42 C.F.R. 413.343, 483.20.  The MDS is a resident assessment tool, 

and must be completed for each resident upon admission to the facility and then periodically 

thereafter, and transmitted to the Medicare Contractor.  The MDS must accurately state each 

resident’s functional capabilities, medical condition, and mental status. 

43. At all times relevant to this Complaint, the MDS contained the following 

certification: “I understand that this information is used as a basis for ensuring that residents receive 

appropriate quality of care, and as a basis for payments from Federal funds.  I further understand that 

payment of such Federal funds and continued participation in the government-funded health care 

programs is conditioned on the accuracy and truthfulness of this information, and that I may be 

personally subject to or may subject my organization to substantial criminal, civil, and/or 

administrative penalties for submitting false information.  I also certify that I am authorized to 

submit this information by this facility on its behalf.” 

 B. Medicare Part B 

44. Medicare Part B is a voluntary insurance program providing supplemental medical 

insurance benefits to aged and disabled enrollees.  42 U.S.C. §1395j. 

45. For covered beneficiaries in LTC nursing facilities, Medicare Part B will cover 

certain forms of reasonable and necessary patient therapy after the beneficiary has exhausted Part A 

coverage for those services. 

46. Specifically, Part B will cover outpatient physical therapy services, outpatient 

occupational therapy services, and outpatient speech-language pathology services.  42 U.S.C. 

§1395k(a)(2)(C); see also Medicare Claims Processing Manual, Ch. 7, §10.1. 
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47. Medicare Part B will not pay for any expense that is “not reasonable and necessary 

for the diagnosis or treatment of illness or injury or to improve the functioning of a malformed body 

member.”  42 U.S.C. §1395y(a)(1)(A). 

 C. Medicare Part D 

48. Under Medicare, a nursing home resident’s prescription drug care can be covered 

either through Part A or Part D. 

49. During the period of Part A coverage, Medicare calculates its per diem payments to 

the skilled nursing facility to include the cost of necessary medication for the beneficiary.  The 

facility cannot separately bill Medicare for the costs of these drugs. 

50. If an individual remains in a nursing home beyond the 100 days covered under Part 

A, or otherwise becomes disqualified to receive Part A benefits, her prescription drugs will then be 

covered under Medicare Part D, so long as she is properly enrolled. 

51. Unlike coverage in Medicare Parts A and B, Part D coverage is not provided within 

the traditional Medicare program.  Medicare Part D is based on a private market model. Medicare 

contracts with private entities known as Part D Plan “Sponsors” to administer prescription drug 

plans. 

52. Part D benefits are delivered by a Part D Plan Sponsor, which is either a prescription 

drug plan, a Medicare Advantage organization that offers a Medicare Advantage prescription drug 

plan (MA-PD plan), a Program of All-inclusive Care for the Elderly (“PACE”) organization offering 

a PACE plan that includes qualified prescription drug coverage, or a cost plan offering qualified 

prescription drug coverage.  42 C.F.R. 423.4. 

53. Under the Part D Plan structure, long-term care pharmacies – i.e., pharmacies 

dispensing drugs to beneficiaries residing in LTC facilities, rather than to the general public – 

contract with and bill the beneficiary’s plan sponsor for covered Part D drugs dispensed to that 
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beneficiary.  The Part D Plan Sponsor will in turn seek reimbursement from the United States, based 

on a three-part reimbursement model consisting of (1) the direct subsidy designed to cover the 

sponsor’s cost of providing the benefits; (2) the low-income cost-sharing subsidy; and (3) the 

reinsurance subsidy. 

54. It is a precondition for payment under Medicare Part D that drugs be dispensed only 

upon the patient’s presentation of “medically accepted indications.” 

55. Likewise, under Medicare Part D, CMS will only pay for drugs that meet the 

definition of “covered Part D drug.” 

56. A “covered Part D drug” means a drug that is used for a “medically accepted 

indication.” 42 U.S.C. §1395w-102(e); see also 42 C.F.R. 423.100 (defining “Part D drug” and 

“covered Part D drug”).  A “medically accepted indication” means any use or indication which is 

approved by the FDA or which is supported by one or more citations in certain drug compendia.  See 

42 U.S.C. §1395w-102(e) (incorporating 42 U.S.C. §1396r-8(k)(6)). 

IV. TENNCARE PAYMENTS FOR NURSING HOME RESIDENTS 

57. In order to implement the Medicaid program in Tennessee, TennCare contracts with 

various MCOs who in turn execute Provider Agreements with providers, such as nursing facilities.  

TennCare, through its contracted MCOs, reimburses nursing facilities on a per diem basis with 

reimbursement levels categorized according to “the needs of the individual and the level of skilled 

and/or rehabilitative services required.”  TennCare Rules 1200-13-01-.03 and 1200-13-01-.10.  

However, pharmacy services provided in a nursing home are covered by the TennCare Pharmacy 

Program, which is coordinated by the Pharmacy Benefits Manager (“PBM”).  As such, most 

prescription drugs are not included in the per diem payment. 
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58. TennCare and all of its contractors, providers and any sub-contractors are required to 

administer the Medicaid program in compliance with federal law.  See Tenn. Code Ann. §71-5-

102(a). 

59. Nursing facilities either have in-house pharmacies or contract with outside 

pharmacies to provide patient medications, and in turn, these pharmacies contract separately with the 

PBM.  See State of Tennessee Medicaid Pharmacy Claims Submission Manual, at 12 (Aug. 1, 2014). 

60. Pursuant to the Contractor Risk Agreements executed between the State of Tennessee 

and the MCOs, including the PBM, all Provider Agreements must contain a provision indicating that 

the provider (such as a nursing facility, mental health services provider and/or pharmacy) 

“understands that payment of a claim by TennCare or a[n MCO or PBM] is conditioned upon the 

claim and the underlying transaction complying with [the Medicaid] laws, regulations, and program 

instructions . . . and is conditioned on the provider’s . . . compliance with all applicable conditions of 

participation in Medicaid.”  Contractor Risk Agreement at §2.12.9.40; see also TennCare Pharmacy 

Network Agreement at §10.14(D). 

61. The Provider Agreements further provide that “each claim [submitted to] TennCare or 

a[n MCO or PBM] constitutes a certification that the provider . . . has complied with all applicable 

Medicaid laws, regulations, and program instructions . . . in connection with such claims and the 

services provided therein.”  Contractor Risk Agreement at §2.12.9.40; see also TennCare Pharmacy 

Network Agreement at §10.14(D). 

62. Moreover, all Provider Agreements with nursing facilities must include a provision 

that requires the nursing facility to notify the MCO of any change in a member’s medical or 

functional condition that could impact the member’s level of care eligibility.  Nursing facility 

Provider Agreements are also required to include a provision that requires “the nursing facility 
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provider to comply with state and federal laws and regulations applicable to nursing facilities as well 

as any applicable federal court orders.”  Contractor Risk Agreement at §2.12.10.10. 

63. Nursing home residents who are “dual eligible” to receive benefits under both 

Medicare and Medicaid receive their prescription drug coverage through Medicare Part D.  

Individuals who are eligible only for Medicaid receive their prescription drug coverage through the 

TennCare Pharmacy Program. 

64. Pursuant to federal law, a prescription drug that is prescribed in the absence of a 

“medically accepted indication” is not reimbursable under Medicaid.  See 42 U.S.C.§1396r-8(k)(2) 

and (6).  The phrase “medically accepted indication” has the exact same meaning under Medicaid as 

it does under Medicare Part D.  A “medically accepted indication” means any use or indication 

which is approved by the FDA or which is supported by one or more citations in certain drug 

compendia.  42 U.S.C. §1396r-8(k)(6). 

65. To be determined “medically necessary” a medical item or service (including 

prescription drugs) must be recommended by a treating physician and it must further be (1) required 

in order to diagnose or treat an enrollee’s medical condition (the convenience of the provider cannot 

be a factor or a justification for the drug’s use), (2) it must be safe and effective and (3) it must be 

the lease costly alternative.  Tenn. Code Ann. §71-5-144(b)(1)-(3). 

66. To be considered “safe and effective” the “type and level of [drug] must be consistent 

with the symptoms or diagnosis and treatment of the particular medical condition, and the reasonably 

anticipated medical benefits of the item or service must outweigh the reasonably anticipated medical 

risks based on the enrollee’s condition and scientifically supported evidence.”  Tenn. Code Ann. 

§71-5-144(b)(2). 

67. Moreover, TennCare specifically prohibits payment for off-label use of FDA 

approved drugs, except under specific circumstances.  In order for TennCare to pay for a drug used 
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for any purpose other than one specifically identified on the drug’s FDA-approved label, the off-

label use must be “shown to be widespread, to be generally accepted by the professional medical 

community as an effective and proven treatment in the setting and for the condition for which it is 

used.”  The use must also satisfy the three requirements discussed in ¶65 above.  Tenn. Code Ann. 

§71-5-144(b)(4)(C). 

DEFENDANTS’ SCHEMES TO DEFRAUD 

68. The facts in this section all relate to the experience of Ms. Betty Hobbs – Relator’s 

now-deceased aunt – during her stay at Spring Gate during the first half of 2013. 

69. Relator has personal knowledge of the facts alleged through repeated visits and 

conversations with his aunt, conversations with nurses and other Spring Gate staff and residents, and 

from health and patient records for Ms. Hobbs that are currently in Relator’s possession. 

70. Though Relator’s direct and particularized knowledge of defendants’ fraudulent 

conduct is largely limited to Ms. Hobbs, Ms. Hobbs’ experience is not unique.  Instead, it is 

representative of broader fraudulent schemes by the defendants to chemically restrain Spring Gate 

residents and then bill for worthless nursing services and non-covered psychoactive drugs. 

I. DEFENDANTS CAUSE THE UNLAWFUL CHEMICAL RESTRAINT 

 OF MS. BETTY HOBBS 

71. Ms. Betty Hobbs was admitted to Baptist Memorial Hospital in Memphis, Tennessee, 

on September 17, 2012, complaining of back and hip pain.  During this hospital stay, doctors 

ultimately decided that Ms. Hobbs required total hip replacement.  Doctors performed the hip 

replacement surgery and Ms. Hobbs remained in the hospital until October 15, 2012.  She was 67 

years old at the time. 

72. Later that same year, on December 20, 2012, Ms. Hobbs was again admitted to 

Baptist Memorial Hospital, where she was discovered to have mitral valve endocarditis, a fungal 

urinary tract infection, and Clostridium difficile-associated colitis. 
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73. Because of her weakened state, Ms. Hobbs was released from Baptist Memorial 

Hospital to Spring Gate on January 15, 2013.  The ultimate goal was for Ms. Hobbs to participate in 

physical therapy in order to again live alone in her private residence. 

74. Ms. Hobbs checked herself into Spring Gate and was determined by Spring Gate staff 

to be competent to fill out her own paperwork and to serve as her own “responsible party,” meaning 

that Spring Gate was not under any obligation to notify Ms. Hobbs’ family members concerning 

changes in her health. 

75. In the initial history and physical examination performed by Spring Gate, Ms. Hobbs 

was described as a “well-developed, well nourished elderly female in no acute distress.”  Her mental 

status was listed as “mildly confused,” though Spring Gate’s initial cognitive assessment of Ms. 

Hobbs showed good temporal orientation and recall, no signs or symptoms of inattention, 

disorganized thinking, or altered levels of consciousness, and no psychiatric or mood disorders. 

76. As of January 15, 2013, when she was admitted to Spring Gate, Ms. Hobbs was not 

being prescribed any anti-psychotics. 

77. During the first few months of her stay, Ms. Hobbs’ records indicate that she was 

making steady progress in her rehabilitation.  Nurse’s Notes from January and February show that 

Ms. Hobbs was feeding and dressing herself and that she maintained a generally pleasant demeanor. 

78. In early March, the Nursing Notes indicated that Ms. Hobbs was occasionally 

confused, and sometimes needed “constant reminders and redirection.”  However, as late as March 

5, 2013, her physician, Elbert E. Hines, wrote in her Progress Note that Ms. Hobbs’ mental status 

was “alert with occasional confusion,” with no noted concerns about any psychological issues. 

79. On or about March 11, 2013, Spring Gate began administering heavy doses of the 

anti-psychotic drug Seroquel and the anti-anxiety drug Ativan to Ms. Hobbs.  Specifically, Spring 

Gate began administering a 25 mg tablet of Quetiapine (generic of Seroquel) twice daily to Ms. 
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Hobbs and a .5 mg tablet of Lorazepam (generic of Ativan) three times daily.  While Ms. Hobbs’ 

patient files do not suggest any clear stated reason for Spring Gate to start her on these drugs, it was 

likely related to several accidents Ms. Hobbs had in early March relating to her colostomy bag, and 

more generally to the Spring Gate staffers finding Ms. Hobbs difficult. 

80. On March 13, 2013, Spring Gate had Vericare – its contract provider of resident 

mental health services – conduct a 40 minute “diagnostic interview” with Ms. Hobbs. 

81. According to the notes of Vericare physician Radwan Khuri, Ativan and Seroquel 

were “recently added to med regimen due to increased anxiety and agitation.”  Dr. Khuri further 

noted “cognitive decline with anxiety; patient onset of agitation and resisting care; started on a low 

dose of Seroquel; will monitor response.” 

82. Quetiapine, as a generic form of Seroquel, is categorized by the FDA as an “atypical 

anti-psychotic.”  Atypical anti-psychotics are approved only for the psychiatric treatment of 

schizophrenia and/or bi-polar disorder. 

83. Pursuant to an FDA directive issued in April of 2005, manufacturers of Quetiapine all 

specifically label their drugs to state that “Quetiapine is not approved for elderly patients with 

Dementia-Related Psychosis.” 

84. Ms. Hobbs was prescribed Seroquel despite the fact that she had no indications for 

either schizophrenia or bi-polar disorder, and despite the fact that the symptoms she was apparently 

exhibiting were the exact types of indications listed by CMS and on PharMerica’s review forms as 

inadequate indications for the use of Seroquel. 

85. Lorazepam, the generic form of Ativan, is a high-strength anti-anxiety drug.  The 

insert for this drug specifically notes that sedation, dizziness and weakness are all common side 

effects, especially when Lorazepam is taken in concert with other central nervous system 

depressants, which includes anti-psychotics such as Quetiapine. 
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86. By March 20, 2013, Spring Gate had also added Celexa, an anti-depressant, to Ms. 

Hobbs’ prescriptions for “increased confusion and restlessness.” 

87. Soon after Spring Gate forced Ms. Hobbs onto these additional drugs, her physical 

and mental condition rapidly deteriorated. 

88. By April 10, 2013 she was no longer progressing in physical therapy. 

89. Speech therapy was added to her routine to address “impairment of cognitive-

communicative deficits.”  Her therapy records further indicated that “patient is now unable to 

identify objects, answer yes/no questions, produce spontaneous communication, follow multi-step 

commands and comprehend language . . . following unexplained decline in function.” 

90. Further, on April 9, 2013 her Nutritional Review Notes indicate that she was 

“confused – much more than baseline,” and that “she continued drinking from a cup that was empty 

unable to comprehend that no liquid was left.” 

91. By April 26, 2013 her Nutritional Progress Notes indicated that she was spilling food 

and “is no longer feeding self.  Staring off into space.” 

92. Additionally, after defendants began administering these three drugs – Seroquel, 

Ativan and Celexa – and as a direct result of defendants’ administration of these drugs, Ms. Hobbs 

fell at least three times, on April 1st, 11th, and 25th.  Her physical therapy charts further indicate that 

her progress had slowed, in part because she had suffered “several falls.” 

II. RELATOR’S INVESTIGATION REVEALS THAT DEFENDANTS WERE 

 KNOWINGLY USING THESE DRUGS AS CHEMICAL RESTRAINTS 

93. Relator began developing concerns for his Aunt’s well-being when she suddenly 

stopped calling him. 

94. Starting in January 2013, when Ms. Hobbs had first been admitted to Spring Gate, 

Relator typically spoke to her two to three times per day on a cellphone he had provided her. 

95. However, in mid-March 2013, those calls suddenly and unexpectedly stopped. 
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96. When Relator contacted Spring Gate to inquire into why his Aunt had stopped calling 

him, he was informed that another resident had likely stolen her phone. 

97. Relator provided a second phone to Ms. Hobbs.  However, Ms. Hobbs did not begin 

calling him again.  As a result of defendants’ over-medication, she was no longer capable of using it 

for any meaningful communication. 

98. During subsequent in-person visits, Relator became even more concerned.  During 

one visit by Relator and his two children, he found his aunt in the dining room staring into space and 

attempting to eat mashed potatoes with a knife.  She did not recognize either Relator or his two 

children.  Based on his concerns for the changes he was observing, Relator specifically told the staff 

at Spring Gate that he was worried about the possible over-prescription of drugs to his aunt. 

99. To his great surprise, the nursing staff openly admitted to Relator that Ms. Hobbs was 

being prescribed these drugs “to keep her in the bed,” and that the use of these drugs “put her in the 

dirt.” 

100. In response to this information, Relator began speaking to other residents. He 

discovered that many of these residents were frightened that if they spoke up defendants would 

mistreat them and retaliate against them. 

101. On April 28, 2013, Relator was specifically told by Spring Gate nursing staff that the 

drugs were being prescribed to Ms. Hobbs to “calm her down, to keep her behavior at a manageable 

level.” 

102. On May 1, 2013, staff at Spring Gate discovered that Ms. Hobbs was unresponsive 

and vomiting and transferred her to the emergency room at Methodist North Hospital.  She was 

intubated and admitted to the intensive care unit.  She remained in the hospital for over a week. 

103. On May 13, 2013, Ms. Hobbs was discharged and returned to Spring Gate. 
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104. Approximately one week later, on May 20, 2013, Ms. Hobbs was admitted to the 

geriatric psychiatry, i.e., senior care, facility at Delta Medical Center, due to a “change and mental 

status” and claims that Ms. Hobbs was being “combative at her nursing home.” 

105. Ms. Hobbs was transferred from the geriatric psychiatry unit to the intensive care unit 

on June 1, 2013.  At the time of this transfer, Delta Medical Center stopped prescribing Ms. Hobbs 

any generic Seroquel or generic Ativan. 

106. On or about June 5, 2013, Ms. Hobbs was transferred back to the geriatric psychology 

unit at Delta Medical Center.  She was ultimately discharged from the hospital on June 10, 2013. 

107. When Relator learned that Delta Medical Center was preparing to release Ms. Hobbs, 

he once again became frightened for her safety, and was concerned that Spring Gate would continue 

to chemically restrain her.  Accordingly, Relator took every step he could to have Ms. Hobbs 

transferred to a different nursing home, Covington Manor, in Covington, Tennessee.  In order to get 

her into this facility, Relator had to pay approximately $6,500 out of his own pocket. 

108. After moving into Covington Manor, Ms. Hobbs granted power of attorney to 

Relator, in part so that he could make sure that she would not be chemically restrained going 

forward. 

109. To the best of Relator’s knowledge, Ms. Hobbs was never again prescribed Seroquel 

or Celexa, and while she was occasionally given Ativan for event-related treatment (meaning that 

she was prescribed this anti-anxiety drug for a very limited duration – usually only a few doses – for 

treating a specific, event-related incident), she was never prescribed any of these drugs on a regular, 

scheduled daily basis again. 

110. At Covington Manor, Ms. Hobbs’ mental status quickly improved.  She regained 

most of her situational awareness and was able to talk and joke easily with Relator when he came to 

visit her. 
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III. RELATOR’S KNOWLEDGE OF SPRING GATE’S MISTREATMENT 

 OF OTHER REISDENTS 

111. Although Relator’s direct knowledge of false and fraudulent conduct centers around 

defendants’ actions relating to his aunt, Relator also interacted some with other patients – and 

families of those patients – who defendants appeared to have chemically restrained or otherwise 

mistreated. 

112. During one of his in-person visits in or around April of 2013, Relator observed a 

woman in the hallway arguing with a nurse.  The woman told the nurse that Spring Gate needed to 

“stop whatever it was doing” to her mother, or words to that effect.  The woman added that she had 

brought her mother to Spring Gate only two days earlier, but that her mother no longer knew her or 

recognized her. 

113. During a later visit, on May 17, 2013, Relator spoke to both Ms. Hobbs and her 

roommate.  Ms. Hobbs’ roommate mentioned in passing that nurses sometimes gave her Lortab to 

knock her unconscious before doing her hair.  

IV. SPECIFIC FALSE CLAIMS AND DOCUMENTS SUBMITTED OR CAUSED TO 

 BE SUBMITTED BY DEFENDANTS’ WITH RESPECT TO MS. HOBBS’ CARE 

 A. Defendant Spring Gate Bills Medicare Part A for worthless skilled Nursing 

  Services 

114. Defendant Spring Gate billed and received payment from Medicare Part A for 

providing skilled nursing services for Ms. Hobbs. 

115. Specifically, based on billing data provided by Spring Gate for Ms. Hobbs, Relator is 

aware that Spring Gate charged at least $4,479.50 to Medicare Part A for providing skilled nursing 

services to Ms. Hobbs during the month of March 2013. 

116. To administer Part A of the Medicare program, CMS reimburses nursing home 

providers for the “reasonable costs” of covered services furnished to Medicare beneficiaries.  See 42 

U.S.C. §§1395x(v)(l)(A), 1395f(b); 42 C.F.R. 413.9(a)-(b).  As a condition of participation in the 
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Medicare program, providers are required to enter into Provider Agreements with the Government.  

42 U.S.C. §1395cc. 

117. The Medicare Health Insurance Benefit Agreement, Form CMS-1561 (07/01), 

contained the following certification:  “In order to receive payment under title XVIII of the Social 

Security Act, [provider name] as the provider of services, agrees to conform to the provisions of 

1866 of the Social Security Act and applicable provisions in 42 CFR.”  The provider must also 

certify that it can be subject to criminal penalties if it “knowingly and willfully falsifies” a material 

fact, or makes any “false, fictitious or fraudulent statement or representation.” 

118. For all of the reasons noted in the previous sections of this Complaint, Spring Gate 

knowingly provided worthless services to Ms. Hobbs from the point that it began to unlawfully 

prescribe her generic Seroquel, Ativan and Celexa in early March 2013. 

119. Spring Gate’s claims for payment, certifying its entitlement to receive federal funds 

related to this care, are therefore false and fraudulent. 

 B. Defendant Spring Gate Submits Knowingly False Data Material to Medicare  

  Part A Payments 

120. Spring Gate submitted an MDS report to Medicare for Ms. Hobbs which was dated 

April 4, 2013.  Despite Ms. Hobbs’ obvious and rapid decline and Spring Gate’s use of Ativan, 

Seroquel, and Celexa for treating her “increased agitation and confusion,” the report specifically 

indicated that Ms. Hobbs had not been diagnosed with any neurological disorder (such as 

Alzheimer’s or other dementia) or Psychiatric/Mood disorder (such anxiety, depression, 

schizophrenia or bi-polar disorder). 

121. Moreover, the MDS report indicated that there was no “evidence of an acute change 

in mental status from baseline.” It also indicated that there was no evidence that Ms. Hobbs was 

suffering from mood-related issues, such as “feeling down depressed or hopeless” or that she was 

exhibiting a “poor appetite or overeating.”  It further indicated that there was no evidence that Ms. 
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Hobbs was exhibiting inattention, disorganized thinking, altered levels of consciousness  or 

psychomotor retardation (such as staring into space). 

122. Perhaps most damningly, the April 4, 2013 MDS report states that Ms. Hobbs had 

not taken any anti-psychotic or anti-anxiety drugs during the past 7 days, despite the fact that 

Spring Gate’s own internal records for Ms. Hobbs show her taking the generic form of Seroquel 

twice daily. 

123. Despite presenting a wholly inaccurate portrayal of Ms. Hobbs’ condition and 

medications, the April 4, 2013 MDS report certified that Spring Gate understood “that this 

information is used as a basis for ensuring that residents receive appropriate and quality care, and as 

a basis for payment from federal funds.”  Spring Gate further certified that “payment of such federal 

funds . . . is conditioned on the accuracy and truthfulness of this information.” 

124. Through its misrepresentations and concealments in the MDS forms, defendant 

Spring Gate knowingly made false records and statements material to the United States 

Government’s decisions to pay Spring Gate’s Part A claims. 

 C. Defendant Spring Gate Bills Medicare Part B for Unreasonable 

  Patient Therapy Services and Causes the Billing of Unreasonable 

  Patient Therapy Services 

125. After Ms. Hobbs exhausted her skilled nursing coverage under Medicare Part A, 

Spring Gate began billing Medicare Part B for various types of outpatient physical therapy. 

126. Specifically, between April 1, 2013 and May 3, 2013, Spring Gate regularly billed 

Medicare Part B for the following services and rates of reimbursement with respect to Ms. Hobbs: 

Service Code Rate per Unit 

Therapeutic Activities 97530OT $65.75 

Self Care Management Training 97535OT $65.20 

Gait Training Therapy 97116PT $53.24 

Therapeutic Exercises 97110PT $60.30 

Speech Hearing Therapy 92507ST $134.94 
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127. To give just one representative example, on April 4, 2013, Spring Gate provided and 

billed for the following services with respect to Ms. Hobbs: 2 units of self-care management 

training; 3 units of therapeutic activities (one for physical therapy and two for occupational therapy); 

2 units of therapeutic exercises; and one unit of speech hearing therapy. 

128. Based on the billing summaries provided to Relator, Spring Gate actually billed the 

United States for all of these services, subject to the standard deductibles and co-pays provided for 

under Medicare Part B. 

129. A basic rule under Medicare Part B is that Part B will not pay for any expense that is 

“not reasonable and necessary for the diagnoses and treatment of illness or injury or to improve the 

functioning of a malformed body member.”  42 U.S.C. §1395y(a)(1)(A). 

130. Spring Gate’s billing of Medicare Part B for Ms. Hobbs’ occupational therapy, speech 

therapy, and physical therapy was not reasonable in nature or amount, as most or all of this therapy 

would not have been necessary but for Spring Gate’s unlawful chemical restraint of Ms. Hobbs. 

131. With respect to speech therapy, Ms. Hobbs had not demonstrated any diminished 

speech capacity prior to March 2013, when Spring Gate began administering heavy doses of 

psychoactive drugs. 

132. The Speech Therapy Evaluation and Plan of Treatment for Ms. Hobbs – signed on 

April 12, 2013 by Speech Language Pathologist Lisa Stubbs and Spring Gate Physician Edwin Hines 

– specifically noted that “patient is now unable to identify objects, answer yes/no questions, produce 

spontaneous communication, follow multi-step commands and comprehend language due to lack of 

spontaneous recovery following unexplained decline in function.” 

133. Likewise, with respect to physical and occupational therapy, Spring Gate’s internal 

records show steady progress up until the point Ms. Hobbs began being administered generic 
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Seroquel, Ativan and Celexa.  From that point forward, the internal reports note swift and 

significantly declining function. 

134. For example, a physical therapy discharge summary signed on April 10, 2013 noted 

that “patient made significant functional progress in transfers and gait with r/w during course of PT 

tx until she experienced functional decline due to change in medical status.” 

135. Based on its own internal records, Spring Gate’s knowing and unlawful chemical 

restraint of Ms. Hobbs completely undid any prior progress Ms. Hobbs had made during physical 

and occupational therapy, and also created an artificial need for speech language therapy that would 

not have existed if not for Spring Gate’s unlawful over-medication of Ms. Hobbs. 

136. Accordingly, under Medicare Part B, expenses incurred by Spring Gate with respect 

to these therapeutic services were not reasonable and were accordingly non-compensable. 

 D. Defendant Vericare Bills Medicare Part B for Unreasonable Therapy 

  Services 

137. In addition to those services billed by Spring Gate directly, Spring Gate also 

contracted with Vericare to provide mental health services to its residents.  These services were 

billed separately to Medicare Part B by Vericare. 

138. Relator’s records show that Vericare billed for services provided to Ms. Hobbs on at 

least three occasions. 

139. On March 13, 2013, Vericare physician Radwan Khuri billed under CPT Code 90792 

– i.e., the psychotherapy code for an initial evaluation performed by a physician – for a 40-minute 

visit with patient Hobbs.  The notes for this visit specifically note that patient had recently started on 

Seroquel and Ativan, and simply notes under clinical status “will monitor response.” 

140. On March 30, 2013, Vericare Advanced Practice Nurse Christine Hasselle also billed 

under CPT Code 90792 for a 40-minute visit with patient Hobbs.  The report listed a chief complaint 

of “67 year old white female with increased anxiety and restlessness.”  The treatment plan lists a 
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medication change of adding a prescription of Celexa 10mg capsules.  Based on the records 

documentating this visit, it is not at all clear that APN Hasselle actually provided the level of 

medical care required for billing 40 minutes under CPT Code 90792, particularly in light of the prior 

40 minute visit by a Vericare physician, also billed under code 90792, approximately two weeks 

earlier. 

141. On May 16, 2013, Vericare physician Radwan Khuri billed under CPT Code 99308 – 

skilled nursing physician visits – for a 15-minute visit with patient Hobbs.  The note for this visit 

suggest that Ms. Hobbs had just been taken off of Seroquel, which likely happened during her 

hospital stay of May 2 to May 13, 2013.  The patient notes state that Ms. Hobbs was “tolerating med 

reduction.  Will continue to monitor.” 

142. Although Vericare, through its physicians and other staffers, were tasked with 

providing Spring Gate residents with mental health services, Vericare’s visits to Ms. Hobbs 

constituted nothing more than the rubber-stamping of Spring Gate’s unlawful chemical restraint of 

Ms. Hobbs. 

143. Had Vericare conducted even a cursory review of Ms. Hobbs and her condition, it 

would have discovered that psychiatric drugs being administered to Ms. Hobbs were completely 

inappropriate and would have noted as much to Spring Gate. 

144. Instead, Vericare simply billed Medicare for psychotherapy services without 

providing any meaningful benefit to Ms. Hobbs and without even questioning any of the 

prescriptions Spring Gate was administering to her. 

145. Accordingly, Vericare knowingly billed Medicare Part B for worthless services with 

respect to Ms. Hobbs. 
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IV. DEFENDANTS SPRING GATE AND PHARMERICA BILL AND CAUSE THE 

 BILLING OF FALSE AND FRAUDULENT DRUG CLAIMS UNDER 

 MEDICARE  PART D 

146. After a patient has exhausted his or her skilled nursing coverage under Medicare Part 

A, drugs prescribed to that patient may be covered by Medicare Part D if the patient is eligible. 

147. Under Medicare Part D, CMS will only pay for drugs that meet the definition of a 

“covered Part D drug.” 

148. A “covered Part D drug” means a drug that is used for a “medically accepted 

indication.”  42 U.S.C. §1395w-102(e); see also 42 C.F.R. 423.100 (defining “Part D drug” and 

“covered Part D drug”).  A “medically accepted indication” means any use or indication which is 

approved by the FDA or which is supported by one or more citations in certain drug compendia.  See 

42 U.S.C. §1395w-102(e) (incorporating 42 U.S.C. §1396r-8(k)(6)). 

149. Pharmaceuticals are reviewed and approved for certain uses by the FDA.  As an 

example, the FDA has approved the use of a certain class of drugs termed atypical anti-psychotics, 

which includes Quetiapine (also popularly known as Seroquel). Atypical anti-psychotics are 

approved by the FDA only for the psychiatric treatment of schizophrenia and/or bi-polar disorder.  

Further, in April of 2005, the FDA issued a public health advisory for atypical anti-psychotics and 

has since required that manufacturers of these drugs include a black boxed warning on their labels.  

The Seroquel label, for example states:  “WARNING: INCREASED MORTALITY IN ELDERLY 

PATIENTS WITH DEMENTIA-RELATED PSYCHOSIS.”  The black box label goes on to state, 

“[a]ntipsychotic drugs are associated with an increased risk of death” and “Quetiapine is not 

approved for elderly patients with Dementia-Related Psychosis” (emphasis added). 

150. Moreover, the CMS State Operations Manual, which is issued to provide guidance to 

state surveyors who conduct compliance reviews of nursing home facilities receiving funding from 
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CMS, provides a specific list of “[i]nadequate indications” for use of “[a]ntipsychotic medications,” 

and situations in which such medications “should not be used.”  These inadequate indications are:   

 wandering 

 poor self-care 

 restlessness 

 impaired memory 

 mild anxiety 

 insomnia 

 unsociability 

 inattention or indifference to surroundings 

 fidgeting 

 nervousness 

 uncooperativeness, or 

  verbal expressions or behaviors that are not due to the conditions listed 

under “Indications” and do not represent a danger to the resident ot others. 

State Operations Manual, Appendix PP – Guidance to Surveyors for Long Term Care Facilities, 

§483.25(l) Unnecessary Drugs, effective Dec. 15, 2006, (this Appendix was edited and reformatted 

in 2014, but the current version contains the same basic list of inadequate indications) available at 

www.cms.gov/Regulations-and-

Guidance/Guidance/Manuals/downloads/som107ap_pp_guidelines_ltcf.pdf (last visited Jan. 30, 

2015). 

151. These situations are echoed in PharMerica’s own standard patient monitoring form, 

which is intended for use with anti-psychotics.  This form also explicitly lists “Inappropriate 

‘INDICATIONS’ which DO NOT justify the use of Antipsychotics” (emphasis in original).  This list 

includes: 
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(a) wandering, 

(b) poor self care, 

(c) restlessness, 

(d) impaired memory, 

(e) anxiety, 

(f) depression, 

(g) insomnia, 

(h) unsociability, 

(i) indifference to surroundings, 

(j) unspecified agitation, 

(k) fidgeting, 

(l) nervousness, and 

(m) uncooperativeness. 

152. The risk that atypical anti-psychotics will be abused by nursing homes has been a 

high priority concern of the Office of Inspector General for the U.S. Department of Health and 

Human Services (“OIG”) for years.  The OIG found in a 2011 report that “50 percent of Medicare 

atypical antipsychotic drug claims (amounting to $116 million) for elderly nursing home residents 

were erroneous because the claimed drugs were not provided for medically accepted indications.”  

Further, the report indicated that “[p]ayments for Part D drugs that are not for medically accepted 

indications are considered potential fraud or abuse.”  Memorandum Report, Ensuring That Medicare 

Part D Reimbursement Is Limited to Drugs Provided for Medically Accepted Indications, OEI-07-

08-00152, Stuart Wright, Deputy Inspector General for Evaluation and Inspections, Office of the 

Inspector General, Department of Health & Human Services, Nov. 14, 2011, available at 

http://oig.hhs.gov/oei/ reports/oei-07-08-00152.pdf (last visited Jan. 16, 2015). 
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153. Despite these clear and direct warnings indicating the potential for abuse of atypical 

anti-psychotics in nursing homes, Spring Gate regularly and systematically prescribed these drugs to 

Spring Gate residents for the exact improper “indications” listed by CMS.  Spring Gate also ignored 

the warnings listed on PharMerica’s own standard patient monitoring form.  Instead, Spring Gate 

chemically restrained its residents by prescribing these atypical anti-psychotics as well as other 

prescription drugs in an illegal effort at controlling patient behavior.  Spring Gate not only used 

atypical anti-psychotics in high doses to subdue its residents, but it also prescribed and dispensed 

other pharmaceuticals such as anti-depressants, anti-anxiety medications and pain killers such as 

morphine and oxycodone in the absence of medically accepted indications. 

154. With full knowledge that these prescriptions did not constitute “covered Part D 

drugs,” Spring Gate nonetheless submitted them to PharMerica knowing that PharMerica would be 

submitting them to the Medicare Part D program. 

155. Moreover, despite its statutory duty to provide oversight and review of resident 

medications, PharMerica, in turn, filled these prescriptions for the use of pharmaceuticals, including 

atypical anti-psychotics, on patients who presented no medically accepted indications for their use. 

156. PharMerica then submitted claims for these prescription drugs to the Medicare Part D 

program, despite having actual knowledge of, or with reckless disregard that, the prescriptions did 

not constitute “covered Part D drugs,” and therefore were not reimbursable under Part D. 

V. DEFENDANTS SPRING GATE AND PHARMERICA BILL AND CAUSE THE 

 BILLING OF FALSE AND FRAUDULENT CLAIMS UNDER TENNCARE 

157. While Ms. Hobbs was a beneficiary of Medicare Parts A, B and C, Relator learned 

through his conversations with nurses and other residents at Spring Gate, that Spring Gate’s unlawful 

practice of administering anti-psychotic drugs was not limited to Ms. Hobbs, but was instead part of 

a much broader scheme to defraud. 
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158. Spring Gate accepted patients covered by Medicaid as well as Medicare.  

Accordingly, the schemes to defraud outlined above resulted in the fraudulent payment of funds by 

the State of Tennessee, in addition fraudulent payments by the United States. 

159. Under the TennCare system, Tennessee contracts with various MCOs who in turn 

execute Provider Agreements with providers, such as nursing facilities.  TennCare, through its 

contracted MCOs, reimburses nursing facilities on a per diem basis with reimbursement levels 

categorized according to “the needs of the individual and the level of skilled and/or rehabilitative 

services required.”  TennCare Rules 1200-13-01.03 and 1200-13-01.10. 

160. However, pharmacy services provided in a nursing home are covered by the 

TennCare Pharmacy Program, which is coordinated by the PBM.  As such, most prescription drugs 

are not included in the per diem payment. 

161. The PBM is an organization approved by the State of Tennessee to administer 

pharmacy benefits to enrollees.  As defined in the TennCare Rules, a PBM can either have signed a 

TennCare Contractor Risk Agreement directly with the State or may be a subcontractor to an MCO.  

However, since at least October of 2008, TennCare pharmacy benefits have been provided through a 

PBM which signed a TennCare Contractor Risk Agreement directly with the State.  Between 

October 2008 and May 31, 2013, the PBM was Catamaran (formally SXC Health Solutions).  

Beginning June 1, 2013, the TennCare PBM was Magellan Health Services. 

162. TennCare and all of its contractors, providers and any sub-contractors are required to 

administer the Medicaid program in compliance with federal law.  See Tenn. Code Ann. §71-5-

102(a). 

163. As noted in the prior sections of this Complaint, federal law prohibits skilled nursing 

facilities from administering anti-psychotic drugs as a form of chemical restraint. 
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164. Compliance with these requirements is also a condition of both participation and 

payment for nursing homes seeking to receive payments under Medicaid.  42 C.F.R. 483.1; see also 

State Operations Manual, Appendix P – Survey Protocol for Long Term Care Facilities – Part I, 

effective 04-04-14, available at http://cms.hhs.gov/Regulations-and-

Guidance/Guidance/Manuals/downloads/som107ap_p_ltcf.pdf (last visited January 20, 2015) 

(stating “[s]killed nursing facilities (SNFs) and nursing facilities (NFs) are required to be in 

compliance with the requirements at 42 CFR Part 483, Subpart B, to receive payment under the 

Medicare or Medicaid programs”). Accordingly, Spring Gate’s use of anti-psychotic drugs as 

chemical restraints violated the requirements of TennCare as well as the requirements of Medicare, 

and any claims for payment made on the State of Tennessee for providing skilled nursing services to 

patients who Spring Gate was unlawfully chemically restraining were false and fraudulent. 

165. Likewise, the cost of these anti-psychotic drugs themselves was not properly payable 

by the State of Tennessee under the TennCare Program. 

166. Under Tennessee law, TennCare can only provide payment for medical items and 

services, including prescription drugs, that are (1) within the scope of defined benefits for which the 

enrollee is eligible under the TennCare program; and (2) determined by the TennCare program to be 

medically necessary.  Tenn. Code Ann. §71-5-144(a). 

167. To be determined “medically necessary” a medical item or service (including 

prescription drugs) must be recommended by a treating physician and it must further be (1) required 

in order to diagnose or treat an enrollee’s medical condition (the convenience of the provider cannot 

be a factor or a justification for the drug’s use), (2) it must be safe and effective, and (3) it must be 

the lease costly alternative.  Tenn. Code Ann. §71-5-144(b)(1)-(3). 

168. To be considered “safe and effective” the “type and level of [drug] must be consistent 

with the symptoms or diagnosis and treatment of the particular medical condition, and the reasonably 

Case 2:15-cv-02090-STA-tmp *SEALED*   Document 1 *SEALED*    Filed 02/09/15   Page 32 of
 41    PageID 32



- 33 - 

anticipated medical benefits of the [drug] must outweigh the reasonably anticipated medical risks 

based on the enrollee’s condition and scientifically supported evidence.”  Tenn. Code Ann. §71-5-

144(b)(2). 

169. Moreover, TennCare specifically prohibits payment for off-label use of FDA 

approved drugs, except under specific circumstances.  In order for TennCare to pay for a drug used 

for any purpose other than one specifically identified on the drug’s FDA-approved label, the off-

label use must be “shown to be widespread [and] to be generally accepted by the professional 

medical community as an effective and proven treatment in the setting and for the condition for 

which it is used.”  Tenn. Code Ann. §71-5-144(b)(4)(C). 

170. As an example, atypical anti-psychotics, such as Seroquel, are approved by the FDA 

only for treatment of schizophrenia and bi-polar disorder.  The FDA-approved label for these 

atypical anti-psychotics also explicitly states that the use of these drugs “is not approved for elderly 

patients with Dementia-Related Psychosis.” 

171. Despite these clear directives, defendants Spring Gate and PharMerica respectively 

prescribed and dispensed atypical anti-psychotics, in addition to other prescription drugs, to Spring 

Gate residents in the absence of a diagnosis of either schizophrenia or bi-polar disorder, and instead 

used these drugs as a means of chemically restraining Spring Gate’s residents.  Defendant Spring 

Gate used atypical anti-psychotics when the only symptoms residents were exhibiting were 

symptoms identified as inadequate by CMS and even PharMerica itself.  Moreover, Spring Gate also 

used anti-depressants, anti-anxiety drugs and pain killers, such as morphine and oxycodone, as a 

means of containing resident behavior. 

172. Defendants Spring Gate’s and PharMerica’s prescription and dispensing of 

pharmaceuticals, including atypical anti-psychotics, under these circumstances cannot be considered 

to be “generally accepted by the professional medical community as an effective and proven 

Case 2:15-cv-02090-STA-tmp *SEALED*   Document 1 *SEALED*    Filed 02/09/15   Page 33 of
 41    PageID 33



- 34 - 

treatment in the setting and for the condition for which it is used” as required by Tenn. Code Ann. 

§71-5-144(b)(4(C).  Instead, as an example, defendants’ use of atypical anti-psychotics was in direct 

contradiction to the generally accepted practices of the medical community – as it was the exact type 

of use that the OIG and CMS had warned against.  Nor was such use either (1) required in order to 

diagnose or treat the enrollee’s medical condition or (2) considered safe and effective as required by 

Tenn. Code Ann. §71-5-144(b)(1)-(2). 

173. Defendants’ off-label use of pharmaceuticals, including atypical anti-psychotics, in 

the absence of the general acceptance of the medical community is a use that is not payable under 

Medicaid as administered by TennCare.  Defendants’ submission of claims for payment to the 

TennCare PBM for drugs used under these circumstances therefore constitutes false claims under the 

FCA and TMFCA. 

COUNT I 

Worthless Services Billed to Medicare Part A and/or Medicare Part B by 

Defendants Spring Gate and Vericare, in Violation of the 

Federal False Claims Act, 31 U.S.C. §3729(a)(1)(A) 

174. Relator realleges and incorporates the allegations of ¶¶1-173 as if fully set forth 

herein. 

175. At all times relevant to this Complaint, defendants Spring Gate and Vericare 

knowingly presented, or caused to be presented, directly or indirectly, false and fraudulent claims for 

payment or approval to the United States through the Medicare Part B Program, including claims for 

services rendered to residents of Spring Gate that were non-existent, grossly inadequate, materially 

substandard and/or worthless. 

176. At all times relevant to this Complaint, defendant Spring Gate knowingly presented, 

or caused to be presented, directly or indirectly, false and fraudulent claims for payment or approval 

to the United States through the Medicare Part A Program, including claims for services rendered to 
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residents of Spring Gate that were non-existent, grossly inadequate, materially substandard and/or 

worthless. 

177. By virtue of the false or fraudulent claims presented, or caused to be presented, by 

defendants Spring Gate and Vericare, and of the false or fraudulent records and statements made, 

used, and caused to be made and used by defendants Spring Gate and Vericare, the United States 

suffered damages. 

178. Defendants Spring Gate and Vericare are each liable to the United States for treble 

damages under the FCA, in an amount to be determined at trial, plus a civil penalty of $5,500 to 

$11,000 for each false claim presented or caused to be presented by defendants. 

COUNT II 

Defendant Spring Gate’s Creation and Use of False and Fraudulent Documents 

Material to the United States’ Decisions to Pay It Claims, in Violation of the 

Federal False Claims Act, 31 U.S.C. §3729(a)(1)(B) 

179. Relator realleges and incorporates the allegations of ¶¶1-173 as if fully set forth 

herein. 

180. At all times relevant to this Complaint, defendant Spring Gate has knowingly made, 

used, or caused to be made or used, false records or statements material to these false or fraudulent 

claims to the United States. 

181. Such false records include, without limitation, MDS that fraudulently omits any 

reference to anti-psychotic drugs being administered to patients as a form of chemical restraint. 

182. By virtue of the false or fraudulent records knowingly made, used, or caused to be 

made or used, by defendant Spring Gate, the United States suffered damages. 

183. Defendant is liable to the United States for treble damages under the FCA, in an 

amount to be determined at trial, plus a civil penalty of $5,500 to $11,000 for each false record 

made, used, or caused to be made or used by Spring Gate. 
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COUNT III 

Defendants Spring Gate and PharMerica Knowingly Submit and Cause the Submission 

of False and Fraudulent Claims to Medicare Part D for Non-Covered Drugs in 

Violation of the Federal False Claims Act, 31 U.S.C. §3729(a)(1)(A) 

184. Relator realleges and incorporates the allegations of ¶¶1-173 as if fully set forth 

herein. 

185. At all times relevant to this Complaint, Spring Gate and PharMerica knowingly 

presented, or caused to be presented, directly or indirectly, false and fraudulent claims for payment 

or approval to the United States through the Medicare Part D programs, including claims for 

pharmaceuticals, such as atypical anti-psychotics, that were being used on Spring Gate residents in 

the absence of “medically accepted indications,” and as such were claims for drugs that were not 

covered under Medicare Part D. 

186. By virtue of the false or fraudulent claims presented, or caused to be presented, by 

defendants Spring Gate and PharMerica, and of the false or fraudulent records and statements made, 

used, and caused to be made and used by defendants Spring Gate and PharMerica, the United States 

suffered damages. 

187. Defendants are each liable to the United States for treble damages under the FCA, in 

an amount to be determined at trial, plus a civil penalty of $5,500 to $11,000 for each false claim 

presented or caused to be presented by defendants. 

COUNT IV 

Defendant Spring Gate’s Retention and Concealment of Overpayments Made Under 

Medicare Parts A, B and D in Violation the False Claims Act, 31 U.S.C. §3729(a)(1)(G) 

188. Relator realleges and incorporates the allegations in ¶¶1-173 as if fully set forth 

herein. 

189. As set forth above, defendant Spring Gate knowingly concealed or knowingly and 

improperly avoided an obligation to pay or transmit money to the United States by failing to repay 
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amounts received from the Government for services that were not eligible for payment by Medicare 

Parts A, B or D or by applicable statutes, rules, and regulations.  Defendant Spring Gate knew it was 

not entitled to monies paid by Medicare Parts A, B or D for services not provided or for services and 

medications that were not properly payable, but concealed and avoided its obligations to repay such 

amounts. 

190. By virtue of Spring Gate’s knowing concealment and avoidance of its obligations to 

pay money to the United States, the United States suffered damages. 

191. Defendant Spring Gate is liable to the United States for treble damages under the 

FCA, in an amount to be determined at trial, plus a civil penalty of $5,500 to $11,000 for each false 

claim presented or caused to be presented by Spring Gate. 

COUNT V 

Defendants Spring Gate’s and PharMerica’s Claims for off-Label Use of Pharmaceuticals, 

Including Atypical Anti-psychotics, in the Absence of General Acceptance in the Medical 

Community/Claims for Worthless Services in Violation of the Tennessee Medicaid False 

Claims Act, Tenn. Code Ann. §71-5-182(a)(1)(A) and (B) 

192. Relator realleges and incorporates the allegations in ¶¶1-173 as if fully set forth 

herein. 

193. At all times relevant to this Complaint, Spring Gate and PharMerica knowingly 

presented, or caused to be presented, directly or indirectly, false and fraudulent claims for payment 

or approval to the State of Tennessee through the TennCare program, including claims for 

pharmaceuticals, such as atypical anti-psychotics, that were being used on Spring Gate residents for 

off-label purposes and in the absence of widespread general acceptance in the medical community, 

and as such were claims for drugs that were not medically necessary and therefore not covered under 

TennCare. 

194. Additionally, at all times relevant to this Complaint, Spring Gate and PharMerica 

knowingly presented, or caused to be presented, directly or indirectly, false and fraudulent claims for 
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payment or approval to the State of Tennessee through the TennCare program, including claims for 

services rendered to residents of Spring Gate that were non-existent, grossly inadequate, materially 

substandard, and/or worthless. 

195. At all times relevant to this Complaint, Spring Gate and PharMerica knowingly made, 

used, or caused to be made or used, false records or statements material to these false or fraudulent 

claims to the State of Tennessee. 

196. By virtue of the false or fraudulent claims presented or caused to be presented by the 

defendants, and of the false or fraudulent records and statements made, used, and caused to be made 

and used by the defendants, the State of Tennessee suffered actual damages. 

197. Defendants are jointly and severally liable to the State of Tennessee for treble 

damages under the TMFCA, in an amount to be determined at trial, plus a civil penalty of not less 

than $5,000 and not more than $25,000 for each false claim presented or caused to be presented by 

defendants. 

COUNT VI 

Defendants Spring Gate’s and PharMerica’s Retention and Concealment of Overpayments 

Made Under TennCare in Violation of the Tennessee Medicaid False Claims Act, 

Tenn. Code Ann. §71-5-182(a)(1)(D) 

198. Relator realleges and incorporates the allegations in ¶¶1-173 as if fully set forth 

herein. 

199. As set forth above, defendants Spring Gate and PharMerica knowingly concealed or 

knowingly improperly avoided an obligation to pay or transmit money to the State of Tennessee by 

failing to repay amounts received from the State of Tennessee for services that were not eligible for 

payment by TennCare under the applicable statutes, rules, and regulations.  Spring Gate and 

PharMerica knew they were not entitled to monies paid by TennCare for services not provided or for 

services and medications that were not properly payable, but concealed and avoided their obligations 

to repay such amounts. 
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200. By virtue of Spring Gate’s and PharMerica’s knowing concealment and avoidance of 

their obligations to pay money to the State of Tennessee, the State of Tennessee has suffered 

damages. 

201. Spring Gate and PharMerica are jointly and severally liable to the State of Tennessee 

for treble damages under the TMFCA, in an amount to be determined at trial, plus a civil penalty of 

not less than $5,000 and not more than $25,000 for each false claim presented or caused to be 

presented by defendants. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

Relator respectfully requests that this Court enter judgment against defendants as follows: 

A. That the United States be awarded damages in the amount of three times the damages 

sustained by the United States because of the false claims and fraud alleged within this Complaint, as 

the FCA provides at 31 U.S.C. §3729 et seq. 

B. That civil penalties of $11,000 be imposed for each and every false claim that 

defendants presented to the United States; 

C. That the State of Tennessee be awarded damages in the amount of three times the 

damages sustained by the State of Tennessee because of the false claims and fraud alleged within 

this Complaint as the TMFCA provides at Tenn. Code Ann. §71-5-182(a)(1); 

D. That civil penalties of $25,000 be imposed for each and every false claim that 

defendants presented to the State of Tennessee; 

E. That pre- and post-judgment interest be awarded; 

F. That the Court grants permanent injunctive relief to prevent any recurrence of 

violations of the FCA and/or the TMFCA for which redress is sought in this Complaint; 
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G. That Relator be awarded the maximum percentage of any recovery allowed to him 

pursuant to the FCA, 31 U.S.C. §3730(d)(1) and (2), and pursuant to the TMFCA, Tenn. Code Ann. 

§71-5-183(d)(1) and (2); 

H. That Relator be awarded all costs and expenses of this action, including statutory 

attorneys’ fees, expenses, and costs as permitted by 31 U.S.C. §3730(d) and Tenn. Code Ann. §71-5-

183(d)(2); and 

I. That this Court awards such other and further relief as it deems just and proper. 

DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL 

Relator, on behalf of himself, the United States and the State of Tennessee, demands a jury 

trial on all claims alleged herein. 

 

DATED:  February 9, 2015 

 

 /s/ Jerry E. Martin                                    

JERRY E. MARTIN (TN Bar # 020193) 

SETH M. HYATT (TN Bar # 031171) 

BARRETT JOHNSTON MARTIN    

    & GARRISON, LLC 

Bank of America Plaza 

414 Union Street, Suite 900 

Nashville, TN 37219 

Phone – (615) 244-2202 

Fax – (615) 252-3798 

jmartin@barrettjohnston.com 

shyatt@barrettjohnston.com 

 

J. HOUSTON GORDON (TN Bar # 007523) 

AMBER G. SHAW (TN Bar # 026337) 

LAW OFFICE OF J. HOUSTON GORDON 

114 West Liberty St. Suite 300 

P.O. Box 846 

Covington, TN 38019 

Phone – (901) 476-7100 

Fax – (901) 476-3537 

lawjhg@comcast.net 

ashaw@lawjhg.com 
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ROBBINS GELLER RUDMAN 

 & DOWD LLP 

ROBERT K. LU 

655 West Broadway, Suite 1900 

San Diego, CA  92101 

Telephone:  619/231-1058 

619/231-7423 (fax) 

rlu@rgrdlaw.com 

*Pro Hac Motion forthcoming 

  

Attorneys for Plaintiff 
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